OLSZANSKA, Monika, JURCZUK, Aleksandra, RAFAŁOWICZ, Adam, ŁUNIEWSKI, Bartosz, MACKO, Angelika, LAUKO, Kamil Klaudiusz, ŁUNIEWSKA, Maria, NOWICKA, Iga, WOJCIECHOWSKA, Urszula Justyna and MARCINIAK, Kinga. The Perfect Scale for the Depression Diagnosis in the Athletes: A Comparison of the Clinical Tools - Review. Journal of Education, Health and Sport. 2025;81:66604. eISSN 2391-8306.

https://doi.org/10.12775/JEHS.2025.81.66604 https://apcz.umk.pl/JEHS/article/view/66604

The journal has had 40 points in Minister of Science and Higher Education of Poland parametric evaluation. Annex to the announcement of the Minister of Education and Science of 05.01.2024 No. 32318. Has a Journal's Unique Identifier: 201159. Scientific disciplines assigned: Physical culture sciences (Field of medical and health sciences); Health Sciences (Field of medical and health sciences). Punkty Ministerialne 40 punktów. Zalącznik do komunikatu Ministra Nauki i Szkolnictwa Wyższego z dnia o8.01.2024 Lp. 32318. Posiada Unikatowy Identyfikator Czasopisma: 201159. Przypisane dyscypliny naukowe: Nauki o kulturze fizycznej (Dziedzina nauk medycznych i nauk o zdrowiu; Nauki o zd

# Perfect Scale for the Depression Diagnosis in the Athletes: A Comparison of the Clinical Tools - Review

Monika Olszańska<sup>1</sup> [MO], ORCID <a href="https://orcid.org/0009-0006-2511-505X">https://orcid.org/0009-0006-2511-505X</a>

E-mail: moniolsza00@gmail.com

PCK Maritime Hospital, Powstania Styczniowego 1, 81-519 Gdynia, Poland

Aleksandra Jurczuk<sup>1</sup> [AJ], ORCID <a href="https://orcid.org/0009-0003-5369-5395">https://orcid.org/0009-0003-5369-5395</a>

E-mail: aleksandra.jurczuk@sd.umb.edu.pl

<sup>1</sup>Medical University of Bialystok, ul. Jana Kilińskiego 1, 15-089 Białystok, Poland

Adam Rafałowicz<sup>2</sup> [AR], ORCID https://orcid.org/0009-0005-2535-6884

E-mail: adam.rafalowicz3321@gmail.com

<sup>2</sup>University Clinical Hospital in Bialystok, ul. M. C. Skłodowskiej 24a, 15-276 Białystok, Poland

Bartosz Łuniewski<sup>1</sup> [BL], ORCID https://orcid.org/0009-0005-8934-6626

E-mail: bartosz.lun12@gmail.com

<sup>1</sup> Infant Jesus Clinical Hospital, Lindleya 4, 02-005 Warsaw, Poland

Angelika Macko<sup>1</sup> [AM], ORCID <a href="https://orcid.org/0009-0007-1274-2481">https://orcid.org/0009-0007-1274-2481</a>

E-mail: angel1682000@gmail.com

<sup>1</sup> Infant Jesus Clinical Hospital, Lindleya 4, 02-005 Warsaw, Poland

Kamil Klaudiusz Lauko¹ [KL], ORCID https://orcid.org/0000-0003-0727-3661

E-mail: 36831@student.umb.edu.pl

<sup>1</sup> University Clinical Hospital in Bialystok, ul. M. C. Skłodowskiej 24a, 15-276 Białystok, Poland

Maria Łuniewska<sup>3</sup> [ML], ORCID <a href="https://orcid.org/0009-0005-2349-0182">https://orcid.org/0009-0005-2349-0182</a>

E-mail: maria.luniewska@wp.pl

<sup>3</sup>Mazovian Regional Hospital, Poniatowskiego 26, 08-110 Siedlce, Poland

Iga Nowicka<sup>1</sup> [IN], ORCID <a href="https://orcid.org/0009-0002-8526-7339">https://orcid.org/0009-0002-8526-7339</a>

E-mail: <u>iganowicka7@gmail.com</u>

<sup>1</sup>Bielan Hospital, Ceglowska 80, 01-809 Warsaw, Poland

Urszula Justyna Wojciechowska, [UW] ORCID https://orcid.org/0009-0006-8800-2386

E-mail: wojciechowskaula26@gmail.com

<sup>1</sup>Medical University of Bialystok, ul. Jana Kilińskiego 1, 15-089 Białystok, Poland

Kinga Marciniak, ORCID <a href="https://orcid.org/0009-0000-2322-9295">https://orcid.org/0009-0000-2322-9295</a>

E-mail: kingamarciniak.kontakt@gmail.com

<sup>1</sup>The HCP Hospital in Poznan, ul 28 Czerwca 1956 r. 194, Poznan, Poland

Corresponding Author: Monika Olszańska, moniolsza00@gmail.com

#### Abstract

**Background:** This review provides a critical analysis of selected clinical assessment instruments for depression, with emphasis on their utility in everyday medical practice and their adaptability to individual patient profiles. Given the multifactorial etiology and diverse symptomatology of depressive disorders, appropriate diagnostic tool selection is essential for accurate evaluation and monitoring.

**Aim:** The paper reviews widely used depression assessment scales, including the Hamilton Depression Rating Scale (HDRS), Montgomery-Åsberg Depression Rating Scale (MADRS), Beck Depression Inventory (BDI), Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ), Zung Self-Rating Depression Scale (ZSDS), Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale (CES-D), Depression Anxiety Stress Scales (DASS), and others, analyzing their relevance to various clinical populations, including athletes.

**Materials and Methods:** A structured literature review was conducted using PubMed and Web of Science databases. Keywords included: major depressive disorder, psychometric assessment, screening tools, diagnostic evaluation, and mood disorders.

**Results:** The examined tools differ in structure, scoring methods, and clinical applicability. Their utility varies depending on age, comorbidities, and context. Some instruments are better suited for older adults, postpartum women, or adolescents, while others may offer better sensitivity in athletic populations. Matching the tool to the individual's clinical and psychosocial profile improves diagnostic accuracy and treatment outcomes.

**Conclusions:** Selecting depression assessment scales based on psychometric quality and population specificity—particularly in underrepresented groups such as athletes—can optimize diagnosis and facilitate effective, personalized treatment strategies.

Keywords: major depressive disorder, diagnostic tools, clinical assessment, athlete mental health

#### **Contents**

| 1. Introduction   | 3  |
|---|----|
| 2. Research materials and methods                             | 4  |
| 3. Research results   | 5  |
| 3.1. Depression rating scales                                 | 5  |
| 3.1.1. Observer-rating scales                                 | 5  |
| 3.1.2. Self-assessment scales                                 | 6  |
| 3.2. Age-specific self-assessment scales                      | 7  |
| 3.3. Self-assessment scales to evaluate postpartum depression | 8  |
| 4. Discussion   | 9  |
| 5. Conclusion   | 11 |
| Disclosure  | 11 |
| Author's contribution   | 11 |
| Funding Statement   | 12 |
| Institutional Review and Board Statement                      | 12 |
| Informed Consent Statement                                    | 12 |
| Data Availability Statement                                   | 12 |
| Conflict of Interest Statement                                | 12 |
| References  | 12 |

#### 1. Introduction

Due to its complex etiology and its impact on patients of varying ages, manifesting through diverse symptoms, depression requires tailored scales to facilitate accurate diagnosis and effective monitoring of treatment progress. Despite advances in diagnostic tools, identifying and assessing depression remains a significant clinical challenge, especially given the subtle variations in symptoms due to age and individual patient experiences. A review of the literature reveals that the majority of psychiatrists do not employ standardized scales to assess the efficacy of depression treatment. The primary reasons for this omission are the lack of training in the use of these scales, the time-consuming nature of the scales, and a perceived lack of efficacy in using them (Zimmerman & McGlinchey, 2008). The growing awareness of depression in non-traditional clinical populations—such as athletes—further underscores the need for diagnostic tools tailored to their unique psychosocial and physiological context. Competitive sports environments are associated with high performance pressure, injury-related stress, and stigma surrounding mental health, all of which may lead to underrecognition or atypical presentation of depressive symptoms in this group.

Encouraging clinicians to utilize standardized scales for diagnosing and monitoring depression could lead to significant improvements in both clinical and scientific outcomes. Standardized scales provide a consistent, objective means of assessing depression severity, allowing clinicians to make more accurate diagnoses and monitor changes in symptoms over time. This consistency is crucial in developing tailored treatment plans that align with each patient's unique presentation of depression. Moreover, standardized assessments enable a cumulative understanding of depression's patterns and progressions across various patient demographics, which can inform best practices and enhance the precision of clinical research.

The growing prevalence of depression emphasizes the need for diagnostic practices that extend beyond traditional psychiatric settings, involving other fields such as geriatrics, internal medicine, and primary healthcare (Maurer et al., 2018). Patients with co-occurring physical illnesses or those in later stages of life may display symptoms of depression that differ in presentation from classic cases, necessitating a broader, interdisciplinary approach to diagnosis and care. Non-psychiatric clinicians are increasingly in a position to recognize depressive symptoms, particularly among patients with chronic conditions or those who may have limited access to mental health specialists. By integrating standardized screening tools into these settings, healthcare providers can identify depressive symptoms early, even in non-psychiatric consultations.

With an array of well-researched diagnostic scales available, clinicians are better equipped to detect depression across different life stages, from adolescence to old age. Early identification and intervention are key to effective depression management, helping to prevent the condition from worsening and improving overall treatment outcomes. Thus, standardized assessment tools serve not only as aids in individual patient care but also as foundations for broader research, ultimately contributing to a deeper understanding of depression and fostering more effective, accessible mental health care across the medical spectrum.

## 2. Research materials and methods

Publications available in PubMed and Web of Science were used for the literature review. The following key word combinations in English were used: "depression", "scales", "diagnosis", "diagnostic", "depressive disorders", "screening".

#### 3. Research results

# 3.1. Depression rating scales

The scales used to assess depression can be divided into two categories: observer-rating scales and self-assessment scales. Observer rating scales rely on the experience and objectivity of the evaluator and may include, for example, the Hamilton Depression Rating Scale, and the Montgomery-Asberg Depression Rating Scale Interview. On the other hand, self-assessment scales are less time-consuming and free of clinician bias. These include the Beck Depression Inventory, Patient Health Questionnaire, Depression Anxiety Stress Scales-21, Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale, Geriatric Depression Scale (Demyttenaere & Jaspers, 2020).

# 3.1.1. Observer-rating scales

## Hamilton Depression Rating Scale (HAM-D)

The Ham-D is a popular questionnaire, which exists in various versions, the most prevalent of which are the 17- and 21-point versions. However, approximately 20 distinct variants are observed in clinical practice, which differ in the specifics of the assessment. Completing it takes about 15-20 minutes. It is widely used for evaluating antidepressant efficacy in clinical research but was initially developed in the 1950s to assess first-generation antidepressants (HAMILTON, 1960). The principal benefit of the Hamilton scale is its capacity to monitor the progression of depressive disorders, rendering it a valuable instrument for tracking alterations in symptom intensity in patients undergoing treatment. By conducting repeated assessments, the efficacy of therapy can be assessed and appropriate modifications to the treatment plan can be made based on the results. In clinical trials, the HAM-D is frequently employed as a benchmark for evaluating the effectiveness of antidepressant medications and psychotherapy (Khan et al., 2002).

However, certain items contribute minimally to evaluating depression severity, and its multidimensional factor structure can yield ambiguous results across different patient groups.

# Montgomery-Åsberg Depression Rating Scale (MADRS)

MADRS is a modification of the Hamilton Depression Scale, focusing on 10 items rated on a seven-point scale, primarily for individuals over 18 (Montgomery & Asberg, 1979). MADRS is particularly useful for patients with early-onset dementia, offering better diagnostic accuracy

than the Cornell Scale for Depression in Dementia (CSDD), which is also applicable (Leontjevas et al., 2009). Furthermore, current literature underscores MADRS's effectiveness in detecting depressive symptoms in severely obese patients (Paiva-Medeiros et al., 2015). The MADRS scale demonstrates high sensitivity and specificity in assessing moderate to severe depression, and its high inter-assessment reliability makes it suitable for use by a variety of professionals.

# 3.1.2. Self-assessment scales

# Patient Health Questionnaire-9 (PHQ-9)

The Patient Health Questionnaire-9 (PHQ-9) is a screening tool designed for use in primary care and other medical settings to identify individuals with symptoms of depression. It consists of nine main questions and one additional question. The main questions focus on depressive symptoms outlined in the DSM-IV diagnostic criteria, which have not significantly changed in DSM-V for depression diagnosis (Costantini et al., 2021). The PHQ-9 is a valuable tool for diagnosing and assessing the severity of depressive disorders. One notable advantage of this scale is its brevity, which is a significant advantage over many other measures of depression. Patients complete it in about five minutes. Despite its concise nature, the PHQ-9 demonstrates comparable sensitivity and specificity, and it aligns with the diagnostic criteria (Kroenke et al., 2001).

### Beck Depression Inventory-II (BDI-II)

The BDI-II is a self-assessment tool consisting of 21 questions, designed to measure the severity of depressive symptoms in adults and adolescents aged 13-80. It is primarily used for outpatient evaluation of depression severity, with a completion time of 5-10 minutes, allowing for quick treatment monitoring. While the BDI-II assesses symptom intensity, it does not serve as a standalone diagnostic tool (Dozois, 2010).

While the BDI-II assesses symptom intensity, it does not serve as a standalone diagnostic tool. Patients with other organic illnesses tend to report more somatic symptoms, resulting in slightly higher BDI-II scores than those with depression alone, yet these scores still fall below the mild depression threshold (Wang & Gorenstein, 2013). For these patients, considering the shorter BDI-FS version, which omits somatic elements, may help distinguish those with chronic pain or fatigue (Poole et al., 2009).

#### Zung Self-Rating Depression Scale (SDS)

The scale comprises 20 items that assess the severity of depressive symptoms, including pessimism, low mood, guilt, sleep disturbances, fatigue, and appetite changes (Zung, 1965). The scale is employed in mental health screening and monitoring, particularly in the context of mood disorders. Due to its widespread use, the Zung Self-Rating Depression Scale is utilized in epidemiological and psychometric studies, facilitating the comparison of results across diverse research groups (Yesavage et al., 1982). Despite the extensive utilization of this assessment instrument, there is a paucity of consensus regarding the optimal cutoff score for diagnosing depression. One proposed cutoff point is 50 points (Dunstan & Scott, 2019).

## Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale (CES-D)

The scale comprises 20 items designed to assess the severity of depressive symptoms over the past week (Radloff, 1977). The CES-D was developed primarily for use in epidemiological and population-based studies, thus it is relatively straightforward to use and can be completed in a short time. The scale focuses on symptoms such as depressed mood, loss of interest, sleep disturbances, feelings of fatigue, and problems with concentration, which enables it to detect the risk of depression in broad populations, even without a full clinical diagnosis. The CES-D is readily used in public health, aging, and quality of life studies (Lewinsohn et al., 1997).

Nevertheless, some researchers have raised concerns about the psychometric properties of certain items, which may lead to artificially elevated scores in specific populations, including the elderly, individuals with chronic pain, or those experiencing symptoms of other disorders such as anxiety (Carleton et al., 2013).

# 3.2. Age-specific self-assessment scales

### Depression Anxiety Stress Scales-21 (DASS-21)

DASS-21 is used to assess depression, anxiety, and stress, focusing on overall psychological stress levels. While total scores strongly correlate with depression and anxiety, the scale is less effective in distinguishing these states in adolescents. It consists of 21 items and takes about three to five minutes (Osman et al., 2012). DASS-21 generally measures psychological stress rather than isolating depression, anxiety, and stress specifically. In adolescent populations, the

boundaries between these emotions are often blurred, making DASS-21 more suited for general mental health assessment rather than specific evaluations in younger groups (Shaw et al., 2017).

For children and adolescents, the DASS-Y (Youth) version identifies symptoms effectively, with depressive symptoms linked to low positive affect, anxiety to physiological arousal, and stress to worry (Szabo & Lovibond, 2022). For those aged 60-74, DASS-21 enables accurate identification of generalized anxiety disorder and depression, with comparable results to other standard diagnostic tools (Gloster et al., 2008). However, the completion rate significantly decreases in those over 81, so using DASS-21 is recommended only up to age 80 (Wood et al., 2010).

## Geriatric Depression Scale (GDS)

The GDS, in various forms, is a valuable tool for detecting depression in older adults. Studies show that all four forms—GDS-30, GDS-15, GDS-10, and GDS-4—have high sensitivity and specificity, with shorter forms (GDS-15 and GDS-10) offering the greatest diagnostic accuracy. While none of the forms can definitively confirm or exclude depression, they serve as effective screening tools (Krishnamoorthy et al., 2020). Completion of the GDS-30 takes 5-10 minutes, but time may be significantly longer for patients with cognitive impairments or concentration issues. The original version of the GDS comprises 30 items, with responses provided in a binary format (yes or no). The GDS is reliable when used alongside other diagnostic assessments. It is crucial to note that the scale considers various factors that contribute to the overall assessment. The scale takes into account the specific characteristics of depression in older adults, particularly the prevalence of multiple somatic symptoms that may not be directly related to depressive symptoms (Shin et al., 2019).

# 3.3. Self-assessment scales to evaluate postpartum depression

### Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale (EPDS)

The EPDS is an effective, accurate tool for identifying women at high risk of postpartum depression within the first six months postpartum. Consisting of 10 questions with a maximum score of 30, a score of 10 or an affirmative response to self-harm warrants further evaluation for postpartum depression. Completion takes less than five minutes. The test is more effective than a routine clinical assessment in identifying mood disorders in postpartum women. It is

recommended for use in the standard care of postpartum women to enable early intervention (Evins et al., 2000).

However, the scale may be less accurate in culturally diverse populations without adequate translation and adaptation, which may result in the omission of important indicators of depression in non-Western settings. Furthermore, the EPDS focuses on symptoms of depression, and thus may not detect co-occurring disorders, such as anxiety or bipolar disorder, which can occur in postpartum patients. It is also essential to consider that the EPDS is a screening tool that necessitates further clinical evaluation for accurate diagnosis (Cox, 2019).

# Postpartum Depression Screening Scale (PDSS)

The PDSS uses a 5-point Likert scale, with scores ranging from 35 to 175. A score of ≥80 indicates major depression, and the scale takes 5-10 minutes to complete. The PDSS is more effective in detecting postpartum depression than the EPDS or BDI-II, providing a more precise screening tool (Beck & Gable, 2001).

However, the PDSS may require specialist interpretation and demographic adjustments, as its specificity for postpartum experiences limits its utility in diagnosing depression at other life stages, such as pregnancy. Additionally, it may be impractical without follow-up resources for high scorers, especially in under-resourced settings (Pereira et al., 2011).

#### 4. Discussion

Analysis of various depression assessment scales highlights the importance of selecting diagnostic tools suited to each patient's unique needs for precise diagnosis and effective treatment across life stages. The variety of depressive symptoms, from psychological to somatic, necessitates scales that can capture these nuances, particularly for patients with coexisting conditions, such as chronic pain or neurological disorders. Summary data of the scales are shown in Table 1.

The Beck Depression Inventory-II (BDI-II), though valued for its ease and speed, may yield inflated results in somatically ill patients, making the shorter BDI-FS version often more suitable for somatically focused cases. The Hamilton Depression Scale (HAM-D), despite its popularity and usefulness in antidepressant research, faces criticism for its outdated structure,

which can reduce its relevance for modern depressive profiles, particularly in patients with milder or atypical symptoms.

The Montgomery-Åsberg Depression Rating Scale (MADRS) stands out for its diagnostic accuracy, especially in moderate-to-severe cases, and its adaptability to various interview methods, making it suitable for patients with mobility limitations, including geriatric populations. Its robustness extends to patients with health complications, suggesting its versatility.

The Zung Self-Rating Depression Scale (SDS) is a widely used self-assessment tool designed to measure the level of depressive symptoms. While it is effective in identifying general depressive states and is easy for patients to complete, it may lack sensitivity in distinguishing between mild and moderate depression or in capturing changes over time. Thus, SDS is best suited for initial screening rather than in-depth diagnosis or monitoring of treatment progress.

The CES-D is a self-report scale developed to assess depressive symptoms in the general population. It is particularly sensitive to detecting symptoms of clinical depression and is widely used in both research and clinical settings. However, due to its focus on recent mood changes, it may be less suitable for diagnosing chronic or long-standing depressive disorders. CES-D is well-suited for large-scale epidemiological studies and initial screenings, especially within diverse population groups.

In recent years, increasing attention has been paid to the prevalence and characteristics of depression in athletic populations. Athletes may present with less typical affective symptoms and more somatic complaints, such as fatigue, irritability, or sleep disturbances, which may be mistaken for training-related effects. Therefore, the use of standardized diagnostic tools that minimize somatic symptom bias—such as the PHQ-9 or BDI-FS—may be more appropriate in this context. Moreover, scales that allow for rapid administration without clinical supervision are particularly valuable in sports medicine settings, where mental health screening is often embedded in broader performance evaluations.

While DASS-21 focuses on general psychological stress, it may be less effective at differentiating depression, anxiety, and stress in adolescents. As a result, it is better suited as a general screening tool, particularly for adults.

The Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale (EPDS) and the Postpartum Depression Screening

Scale (PDSS) emphasize the importance of life-stage-specific tools, supporting early

intervention in postpartum women. PDSS offers more detail than EPDS but requires specialized

resources for high scorers.

Finally, the Geriatric Depression Scale (GDS) is effective for screening older adults, especially

in its shorter versions, which facilitate use in this age group. However, GDS should be

combined with other tools for a comprehensive evaluation.

5. Conclusion

The diversity of depression assessment scales enables a more precise approach to diagnosing

and monitoring mood disorders based on patients' specific needs. Selecting diagnostic tools

that consider age, health status, and clinical context enhances diagnostic accuracy and supports

more effective therapeutic intervention. Integrating depression assessment scales with a patient-

centered approach is crucial for optimizing treatment, highlighting the need for ongoing

research to refine these tools for different population groups. Integrating depression assessment

scales with a patient-centered approach is crucial for optimizing treatment, highlighting the

need for ongoing research to refine these tools for different population groups, including

competitive athletes who may require tailored screening approaches due to sport-specific

psychological stressors.

**Disclosure** 

**Author's contribution** 

Conceptualization: MO, BL, ML

Methodology: MO. AM, KL

Formal analysis: AM, BL, AJ

Investigation: AR, ML, KL

Writing-rough preparation: MO, AJ, KL

11

Writing-review and editing: AJ, AR, AM

Supervision: MO, BL, AR

Receiving funding – not applicable

All authors have read and agreed with the published version of the manuscript.

# **Funding Statement**

The article did not receive any funding.

#### **Institutional Review and Board Statement**

Not applicable.

#### **Informed Consent Statement**

Not applicable.

# **Data Availability Statement**

Not applicable.

Conflict of Interest Statement

The authors declare that there are no potential conflicts of interest due to any commercial or financial dependencies.

#### References

- 1. Beck, C. T., & Gable, R. K. (2001). Comparative analysis of the performance of the Postpartum Depression Screening Scale with two other depression instruments. *Nursing Research*, *50*(4), 242–250. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1097/00006199-200107000-00008">https://doi.org/10.1097/00006199-200107000-00008</a>
- 2. Carleton, R. N., Thibodeau, M. A., Teale, M. J. N., Welch, P. G., Abrams, M. P., Robinson, T., & Asmundson, G. J. G. (2013). The Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale: A Review with a Theoretical and Empirical Examination of Item Content and Factor Structure. *PLoS ONE*, 8(3), e58067. https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.0058067
- 3. Costantini, L., Pasquarella, C., Odone, A., Colucci, M. E., Costanza, A., Serafini, G., Aguglia, A., Belvederi Murri, M., Brakoulias, V., Amore, M., Ghaemi, S. N., & Amerio,

- A. (2021). Screening for depression in primary care with Patient Health Questionnaire-9 (PHQ-9): A systematic review. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 279, 473–483. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JAD.2020.09.131
- 4. Cox, J. (2019). Thirty years with the Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale: voices from the past and recommendations for the future. *The British Journal of Psychiatry: The Journal of Mental Science*, 214(3), 127–129. https://doi.org/10.1192/BJP.2018.245
- 5. Demyttenaere, K., & Jaspers, L. (2020). Trends in (not) using scales in major depression: A categorization and clinical orientation. *European Psychiatry*, 63(1), e91. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1192/J.EURPSY.2020.87">https://doi.org/10.1192/J.EURPSY.2020.87</a>
- 6. Dozois, D. J. A. (2010). Beck Depression Inventory-II. *The Corsini Encyclopedia of Psychology*, 1–2. https://doi.org/10.1002/9780470479216.CORPSY0113
- 7. Dunstan, D. A., & Scott, N. (2019). Clarification of the cut-off score for Zung's self-rating depression scale. *BMC Psychiatry*, 19(1). <a href="https://doi.org/10.1186/S12888-019-2161-0">https://doi.org/10.1186/S12888-019-2161-0</a>
- 8. Evins, G. G., Theofrastous, J. P., & Galvin, S. L. (2000). Postpartum depression: a comparison of screening and routine clinical evaluation. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, *182*(5), 1080–1082. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1067/MOB.2000.105409">https://doi.org/10.1067/MOB.2000.105409</a>
- 9. Gloster, A. T., Rhoades, H. M., Novy, D., Klotsche, J., Senior, A., Kunik, M., Wilson, N., & Stanley, M. A. (2008). Psychometric properties of the Depression Anxiety and Stress Scale-21 in older primary care patients. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, *110*(3), 248–259. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JAD.2008.01.023
- 10. HAMILTON, M. (1960). A rating scale for depression. *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery, and Psychiatry*, 23(1), 56–62. https://doi.org/10.1136/JNNP.23.1.56
- Khan, A., Khan, S. R., Shankles, E. B., & Polissar, N. L. (2002). Relative sensitivity of the Montgomery-Asberg Depression Rating Scale, the Hamilton Depression rating scale and the Clinical Global Impressions rating scale in antidepressant clinical trials. *International Clinical Psychopharmacology*, 17(6), 281–285. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1097/00004850-200211000-00003">https://doi.org/10.1097/00004850-200211000-00003</a>
- 12. Krishnamoorthy, Y., Rajaa, S., & Rehman, T. (2020). Diagnostic accuracy of various forms of geriatric depression scale for screening of depression among older adults: Systematic review and meta-analysis. *Archives of Gerontology and Geriatrics*, 87. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ARCHGER.2019.104002
- 13. Kroenke, K., Spitzer, R. L., & Williams, J. B. W. (2001). The PHQ-9: Validity of a Brief Depression Severity Measure. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, *16*(9), 606. https://doi.org/10.1046/J.1525-1497.2001.016009606.X
- 14. Leontjevas, R., Van Hooren, S., & Mulders, A. (2009). The Montgomery-Asberg Depression Rating Scale and the Cornell Scale for Depression in Dementia: a validation study with patients exhibiting early-onset dementia. *The American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry: Official Journal of the American Association for Geriatric Psychiatry*, 17(1), 56–64. https://doi.org/10.1097/JGP.0B013E31818B4111
- 15. Lewinsohn, P. M., Seeley, J. R., Roberts, R. E., & Allen, N. B. (1997). Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale (CES-D) as a screening instrument for depression among community-residing older adults. *Psychology and Aging*, *12*(2), 277–287. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1037//0882-7974.12.2.277">https://doi.org/10.1037//0882-7974.12.2.277</a>
- 16. Maurer, D. M., Raymond, T. J., & Davis, B. N. (2018). Depression: Screening and Diagnosis. *American Family Physician*, 98(8), 508–515. <a href="https://www.aafp.org/pubs/afp/issues/2018/1015/p508.html">https://www.aafp.org/pubs/afp/issues/2018/1015/p508.html</a>

- 17. Montgomery, S. A., & Asberg, M. (1979). A new depression scale designed to be sensitive to change. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 134(4), 382–389. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1192/BJP.134.4.382">https://doi.org/10.1192/BJP.134.4.382</a>
- 18. Osman, A., Wong, J. L., Bagge, C. L., Freedenthal, S., Gutierrez, P. M., & Lozano, G. (2012). The Depression Anxiety Stress Scales-21 (DASS-21): further examination of dimensions, scale reliability, and correlates. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, *68*(12), 1322–1338. https://doi.org/10.1002/JCLP.21908
- 19. Paiva-Medeiros, P. F. rancielle, Duarte-Guerra, L. S. evero, Santo, M. A. urélio, Lotufo-Neto, F., & Wang, Y. P. (2015). Psychometric Properties of the Montgomery-Åsberg Depression Rating Scale in Severely Obese Patients. *The Spanish Journal of Psychology*, *18*, E69. https://doi.org/10.1017/SJP.2015.072
- 20. Pereira, A. T., Bos, S. C., Marques, M., Maia, B. R., Soares, M. J., Valente, J., Gomes, A. A., MacEdo, A., & De Azevedo, M. H. P. (2011). The postpartum depression screening scale: is it valid to screen for antenatal depression? *Archives of Women's Mental Health*, *14*(3), 227–238. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00737-010-0178-Y
- 21. Poole, H., Bramwell, R., & Murphy, P. (2009). The utility of the Beck Depression Inventory Fast Screen (BDI-FS) in a pain clinic population. *European Journal of Pain (London, England)*, 13(8), 865–869. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.EJPAIN.2008.09.017
- 22. Radloff, L. S. (1977). The CES-D Scale: A Self-Report Depression Scale for Research in the General Population. *Applied Psychological Measurement*, 1(3), 385–401. https://doi.org/10.1177/014662167700100306
- 23. Shaw, T., Campbell, M. A., Runions, K. C., & Zubrick, S. R. (2017). Properties of the DASS-21 in an Australian Community Adolescent Population. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 73(7), 879–892. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1002/JCLP.22376">https://doi.org/10.1002/JCLP.22376</a>
- 24. Shin, C., Park, M. H., Lee, S. H., Ko, Y. H., Kim, Y. K., Han, K. M., Jeong, H. G., & Han, C. (2019). Usefulness of the 15-item geriatric depression scale (GDS-15) for classifying minor and major depressive disorders among community-dwelling elders. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 259, 370–375. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JAD.2019.08.053">https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JAD.2019.08.053</a>
- 25. Szabo, M., & Lovibond, P. F. (2022). Development and Psychometric Properties of the DASS-Youth (DASS-Y): An Extension of the Depression Anxiety Stress Scales (DASS) to Adolescents and Children. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *13*, 766890. <a href="https://doi.org/10.3389/FPSYG.2022.766890/BIBTEX">https://doi.org/10.3389/FPSYG.2022.766890/BIBTEX</a>
- 26. Wang, Y. P., & Gorenstein, C. (2013). Assessment of depression in medical patients: a systematic review of the utility of the Beck Depression Inventory-II. *Clinics (Sao Paulo, Brazil)*, 68(9), 1274–1287. <a href="https://doi.org/10.6061/CLINICS/2013(09)15">https://doi.org/10.6061/CLINICS/2013(09)15</a>
- 27. Wood, B. M., Nicholas, M. K., Blyth, F., Asghari, A., & Gibson, S. (2010). The utility of the short version of the Depression Anxiety Stress Scales (DASS-21) in elderly patients with persistent pain: does age make a difference? *Pain Medicine (Malden, Mass.)*, *11*(12), 1780–1790. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1526-4637.2010.01005.X
- 28. Yesavage, J. A., Brink, T. L., Rose, T. L., Lum, O., Huang, V., Adey, M., & Leirer, V. O. (1982). Development and validation of a geriatric depression screening scale: a preliminary report. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, *17*(1), 37–49. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-3956(82)90033-4">https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-3956(82)90033-4</a>
- 29. Zimmerman, M., & McGlinchey, J. B. (2008). Why don't psychiatrists use scales to measure outcome when treating depressed patients? *The Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, 69(12), 1916–1919. <a href="https://doi.org/10.4088/JCP.V69N1209">https://doi.org/10.4088/JCP.V69N1209</a>

30. Zung, W. W. K. (1965). A self-rating depression scale. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, *12*(1), 63–70. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1001/ARCHPSYC.1965.01720310065008">https://doi.org/10.1001/ARCHPSYC.1965.01720310065008</a>